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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
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vs.

DONALD A . ERICKSON,
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COMPLAINT

The United States Securities and Exchange Commission files this Complaint

against Defendant Donald A . Erickson and would respectfully show the Court as follows :

I. Summary

1 . This case involves insider trading by Defendant Erickson in the securities

of Magnum Hunter Resources ("MHR"), a former NYSE-listed, Texas-based oil and gas

production company.

2 . In late December 2004, Donald A. Erickson, while a member of MHR's

board of directors, chairman of MHR's audit committee, and a retired partner at Ernst &

Young, purchased MHR call options while the company was exploring a possible merger

or sale of the company. In mid-January 2005, Erickson exercised the call options,

acquiring 30,000 shares of MHR common stock just two trading days before the public

announcement that MHR was merging with Cimarex Energy Company ("Cimarex") .

Erickson was in possession of material, nonpublic information at the time he purchased

the call options, and later, when he exercised them .
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3 . Erickson never disclosed the purchase of his MHR options in a

Commission Form 4 filing . Erickson delayed disclosing the exercise of his MHR

options, and his ultimate disclosure was materially false . In the Commission Form 4 filed

10 days late giving notice of a change in his ownership of MHR stock, Erickson stated

that he had exercised the options after the merger announcement .

4. By reason of these activities, Defendant violated Sections 10(b) and

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act") [15 U .S.C. §§

78j(b) and 78p(a)] and Rules lOb-5, 16a-3(a) and 16a-3(g)(1) [17 C .F.R. §§ 240.10b-5,

240.16a-3(a) and 240.16a-3(g)(1)] thereunder. The Commission, in the interest of

protecting the public from any further fraudulent activity, brings this action against

Defendant seeking permanent injunctive relief, disgorgement of illicit profits, plus

accrued prejudgment interest and civil monetary penalties, as well as a permanent bar

against him serving as an officer or director of a public company .

II. Jurisdiction

5 . The Commission brings this action pursuant to the authority conferred

upon it by Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U .S.C. § 78u(d)] . The Commission

seeks the imposition of civil penalties pursuant to Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act

[15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)] .

6. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 21(d),

21A and 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U .S .C. §§ 78u(d), 78u- 1 and 78aa] . Defendant,

directly and indirectly, made use of the mails and of the me ans and instrumentalities of

interstate commerce in connection with the acts , practices and courses of business

described in this Complaint .

Complaint Page 2
SEC v. Donald A . Erickson



7. Venue is proper because transactions, acts, practices and courses of

business described below occurred within the jurisdiction of the Northern District of

Texas.

III. Defendant

8. Donald A. Erickson, age 63, is a resident of Dallas, Texas . Defendant was

a member of the MHR board of directors from February 2004 to approximately June

2005 . Currently, Erickson is president and sole owner of Erickson Partners, LLC, a

business valuation consulting company based in Dallas, Texas .

IV. Statement of Facts

A. Background

9. Magnum Hunter Resources was an Irving, Texas-based oil and gas

production company. Before its merger with Cimarex on June 6, 2005, MHR's common

stock traded on the NYSE and was registered with the Commission pursuant to Section

12(b) of the Exchange Act.

10. Cimarex Energy Company is an NYSE-listed oil and gas exploration and

production company with headquarters in Denver, Colorado . Cimarex's common stock

trades on the NYSE under the symbol "XEC" and is registered with the Commission

pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act . Cimarex acquired MHR in June 2005,

following the January 26, 2005 public announcement of the approved plan of merger .

11 . In June 2003, Erickson retired from a 19-year career at Ernst & Young,

LLP, where he spent 17 years as the partner-in-charge of Ernst & Young's southwest

region business valuation consulting practice . Erickson is a sophisticated investor who

actively directs specific securities transactions in his brokerage accounts .
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12. Erickson joined the board of directors of MHR in February 2004.

Erickson served on the company 's compensation and audit commi ttees, becoming the

audit committee chairman in mid -2004, and thereby assuming responsibility for high

level oversight of the financial activities of the company .

13 . MHR had a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics ("Code of Conduct')

that was posted on the comp any' s intranet, distributed to and receipt acknowledged by all

MHR employees , officers, and directors .

14. Erickson received and reviewed the Code of Conduct upon his hiring in

February 2004 .

15. Among other things , the Code ofConduct provided : "No director, officer

or employee of the Company shall engage in transactions in any securities , whether of

Magnum Hunter, or of any other public companies , while in possession of material

nonpublic information regarding such securities , so-called `insider trading."' The

document defined "material" information as, "any information, whether positive or

negative, that a reasonable investor could consider impo rtant in deciding whether to buy,

sell or hold the securities in question," and listed as examples "information conce rning

sales , earn ings , acquisition targets or potential targets or potential mergers ." The Code of

Conduct explicitly stated that the "use of inside information for personal benefit or

disclosure of inside information to others is not only a violation of company policy, but it

is also a violation of securities laws that can result in substantial civil and criminal

penalties , including fines, penalties and/or imprisonment."

16. Further, the Code of Conduct explained that : "Information that something

is likely to happen, or even that it may happen, can be considered material . For example ,
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if someone learns that Magnum Hunter is involved in negotiations to acquire a company,

even though no agreement has been reached, that person would probably be in possession

of material information . "

17 . MHR also circulated to its employees a memorandum entitled

"Obligations & Liabilities under the Federal Securities Laws," which Erickson received

and reviewed upon his hiring in February 2004, and again at his request in January 2005 .

18. The memorandum clarified that Rule I Ob-5 of the Exchange Act prohibits

persons from trading in securities while in possession of material information and

outlined the remedies available to the Commission. The definition of materiality in the

memorandum further explained : "Information is deemed material if it would be deemed

important by a reasonable investor in deciding whether to buy, sell, or refrain from any

activity regarding the Company's securities . . . [or] if it were likely to have a significant

impact on the market price of the Company's securities ." Among the many examples of

material inside information included in the memorandum were the following : "a

significant change in earnings or earnings projections," "negotiations and agreements

regarding significant acquisitions, divestitures, or business combinations" and "major

management changes ." In addition, the document instructed MHR directors to "maintain

inside information about the Company in strict confidence ."

B. Erickson 's Insider Information and MHR Trade s

19. On October 7, 2004, MHR announced publicly that it was evaluating its

strategic alternatives and the board of directors hired investment banking firms and

outside counsel to advise the company on its business alternatives . This process

ultimately led to the merger of MHR with Cimarex in June 2005 .
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20. During the strategic alternatives evaluation and the merger process,

Erickson participated in every significant decision regarding the company and gained

access to the investment bankers' detailed financial analysis regarding the merger,

including the estimated range of price-per-share exchange ratios and the projected

completion dates of key pre-merger events .

21 . In late November and acting at the direction of the board, the investment

bankers identified five companies expressly interested in either acquiring or combining

with MHR. Each of the five companies received a confidential, nonpublic bid process

letter on or about December 6, 2004, outlining the bidding process and providing firm

dates for the submission of initial bids and for binding offers . The company established a

"data room" as the site for confidential bid-related documents and began hosting the

interested companies, giving their due diligence teams access to MHR's financial,

operating, and legal records and information . All of these events were confidential and

nonpublic.

22. By December 10, 2004, the MHR board and its advisers had narrowed the

field of contending companies and had resolved to pursue either a sale of MHR or a

merger. At the board meeting held on December 10, Erickson received a copy of the

investment bankers' "Strategic Process Update" ("SPU"), which bore the header "Strictly

private & confidential," and which detailed specific price and date forecasts relating to

the possible merger or sale of the company .

23 . The SPU provided the board members with specific valuation ranges for

the company under various scenarios, and the estimated range of share price exchang e
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ratios the company could expect in the event of a corporate merger . In addition, the SP U

provided a timeline of critical events, as follows :

December 15 :

December 22 :

December 23 :

January 6, 2005 :

January 7 :

Draft of Purchase and Sale Agreement ("PSA")
distributed to potenti al partners .

Written indications of interest due from potential
partners .

MHR and its advisers provide feedback on
proposals as soon as practicable .

Firm binding offers due from potential partners via
mark up of PSA .

Review of offers with MHR Board of Directors and
selection of one or more partners to commence
negotiations/due diligence .

January 10: MHR, Deutsche Bank and Merrill Lynch to
commence due diligence on potenti al partners .

Mid to end Jan: Board of Directors vote and sign PSA. Announce
transaction.

24. Thus, as of December 10, 2004, Erickson was in possession of the

investment bankers' best estimates about the type of transaction that would occur and the

range of share price exchange ratios in the event of a merger . He also knew that the

public announcement of the transaction was projected to occur within the latter two

weeks of January 2005 .

25 . According to plan on December 15, 2004, a confidential draft of the

purchase and sale agreement was distributed for comment and revision to the "potential

partner" companies selected by the MHR board . By noon on December 22, 2004 the

board of directors expected to receive each potential bidder's initial offer, which was
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required to include price and form of consideration, any foreseeable contingencies, any

issues relating to the purchase and sale agreement, and any other pertinent information .

26. On December 16, 2004, Morgan Johnston, MHR's general counsel, sent

an e-mail to Erickson, in response to a voice message Erickson left for Johnston earlier

that same day. In the voice message, Erickson asked Johnston whether trading in MHR

securities was "closed" for MHR insiders . During this e-mail exchange, Erickson gave

Johnston no details about the MHR options transaction he was contemplating, such as the

nature of the trade (whether stock or options), the dates of any intended trades, or the

expiration date of the options period .

27. In his e-mail response, Johnston attached a 2002 informational

memorandum from MHR's outside legal counsel addressing potential federal securities

laws violations for short swing profits in connection with a hedging transaction .

28. A "call option" is a securities hedging transaction that gives the holder the

right to buy a certain quantity, usually 100 shares, of an underlying security at a specified

price up to a specified expiration date . A call option gives the purchaser the right to "call

in" or buy stock, and profit is made on a call option when the underlying stock increases

in price .

29. On December 20, 2004, Erickson purchased 300 MHR January call

options through his Banc of America and Merrill Lynch brokerage accounts . Each call

option gave Erickson the right to purchase 100 shares MHR common stock at $12 .50

each by the expiration date of January 22, 2005 .

30. In addition, on the same day, Erickson purchased 40 January 15, 2005

MHR call options through his Banc of America brokerage account, each of which gav e
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him the right to purchase 100 shares MHR common stock at $15 each by the expiration

date of January 15, 2005 . Erickson later chose not to exercise these contracts and

instructed his brokers to allow the January 15, 2005 options to expire .

31 . On December 22, 2004, Cimarex and two other companies submitted

initial bids. The MHR board of directors met to discuss the bids in detail the next day,

resolving at the meeting to give each bidder until January 6, 2005 to complete their board

approval processes . On January 6, 2005, all three companies updated their prior bids .

32. During the early to mid-January timeframe, the MHR board of directors

reviewed detailed financial information from each of the three companies . On January

11, 2005, the board resolved to pursue a merger with Cimarex.

33 . Erickson attended every board of directors meeting and participated in all

the board decisions leading up to, and following the January 11 meeting.

34. By the time the full MHR board, including Erickson, met on January 20,

2005 to discuss the structure of the transaction, most of the major terms of the merger

agreement between Cimarex and MHR had been finalized .

35. On January 17, during the week of final negotiations with Cimarex

regarding the impending merger, Erickson sent to Johnston in a single e-mail with the

following questions: "After the black out/quiet period ends what are the rules concerning

options? Can I write call options to reduce my risk/basis in MHR stock? Can I buy call

options in a potential acquirer? Can I buy stock in a potential acquirer?" At the time of

this January 17 e-mail, a black-out was in effect prohibiting trading in MHR securities by

corporate insiders . Johnston responded to the e-mail that he needed more information

before he could answer Erickson's questions.
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36. On January 19, 2005 at 8 :23 A.M., Erickson asked Johnston via e-mail for

a "summary bulletin that summarizes all the insider trading rules ."

37. At 9:28 A.M. that same day, Johnston forwarded to Erickson a copy of the

memorandum "Obligations & Liabilities under the Federal Securities Laws," which

Erickson had previously received and reviewed in February 2004 .

38 . On January 19, 2005 at 1 :07 P .M. and 1 :30 P .M. that same day, only hours

after receiving and reviewing the insider trading policy, Erickson sent separate a-mails to

his two brokers, instructing them both to exercise his MHR call options set to expire on

January 22, 2005 and acquire the optioned MHR stock.

39. On January 21, 2005, Erickson took possession of 30,000 shares of MHR

common stock in the two transactions .

40. Before the opening of the NYSE trading market on January 26, 2005,

MHR and Cimarex issued a joint press release announcing the merger . Later that day,

MHR's stock price closed at $14 .74, a 12% increase from its closing price of $13 .14 the

day before the merger was announced .

41 . When the market closed on January 27, 2005, Erickson's trading profits

were approximately $46,200 on the MHR shares of common stock he had purchased after

the exercise of his options contracts .

C. Erickson 's Reporting Delinquencie s

42. Erickson never filed the Commission Form 4 required to disclose his

purchase of MHR options on December 20, 2004 .

43 . On the morning of January 27, 2005, the day after the public

announcement of the merger and two days after the Commission Form 4 filing deadline ,
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Erickson sent the following e-mail message to Johnston : "I purchased some call options

back in December prior to the quiet period . Do I need to file [sic] out a [sic] SEC form?

I exercised them last week prior to expiration so now I have more shares . Let me know

what info you need . "

44. On January 31, 2005, Johnston responded that he could file the forms on

Erickson's behalf, but that he needed to know the details of the transaction, such as the

date, the amount of shares acquired, and the exercise price .

45. On February 1, 2005, in an e-mail Erickson furnished to Johnston the

information he had requested. This e-mail was the first time Erickson had provided

Johnston with the details of either the purchase or exercise of his MHR call options .

46. Ultimately on February 4, 2005, ten days late, Johnston filed the

Commission Form 4 on Erickson's behalf. The form was not manually signed, contrary

to the Exchange Act rule governing its preparation, and inaccurately reflected an option

expiration and exercise date of January 31, 2005, ten days after Erickson's actual

exercise .

CLAIMS

FIRST CLAIM

Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U .S.C. § 78j(b)] and
Rule lOb-5 [17 C.F.R. § 240 .1Ob-5] thereunder

47. Plaintiff Commission repeats and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1

through 46 of this Complaint as if set forth verbatim herein .

48. Defendant, as the chairman of MHR's audit committee and a member of

its board of directors, owed fiduciary duties to MHR and its shareholders . Alternatively,

Defendant owed duties to MHR as the source of the confidential information . As a
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result, he had a duty of trust and confidence to not trade MHR secu rities on the basis of

material nonpublic information .

49. In breach of these duties , and for his personal benefit, Defendant

purchased and exercised MHR call options and took possession of MHR stock on the

basis of material nonpublic information. Defendant knew or was severely reckless in not

knowing that the information in his possession was mate rial and nonpublic and that his

trading on the basis of the information was improper and in breach of his duties .

50. By reason of the foregoing, Defendant violated and, unless enjoined, will

continue to violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule lOb-5

thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.1Ob-5] .

SECOND CLAIM

Violations of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U .S.C. § 78p(a) 1 and Rules 16a-
3(a) [17 C .F.R. § 240.16a-3(a)] and 16a-3(g)(1) [17 C.F.R. § 240.16a-3(g)(1)]

thereunder

51. Plaintiff Commission repeats and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1

through 46 of this Complaint as if set forth verbatim herein .

52. Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U .S.C. § 78p(a)] mandates that

officers, directors and persons directly or indirectly holding more than ten percent of any

class of any registered security periodically file statements with the Commission

regarding changes in their ownership of that security. Exchange Act Rule 16a-3(g)(1), in

turn, requires that a statement of ch anges in beneficial ownership , or a Form 4 , be filed

by such persons to report "all exercises and conversions of derivative securities . . .

before the end of the second business day following the day on which the subject

transaction has been executed ." Further, Exchange Act Rule 16a-3 (g)(1) provides : "A
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Form 4 must be filed to report : All transactions not exempt from Section 16(b) of the Act

The market purchase of a fixed price derivative security is not exempt from

Section 16(b) . Exchange Act Rule 16a-3(a) [17 C .F.R. § 240.16a-3(a)] requires the use

of Commission Form 4 for the filing of those statements .

53 . Defendant failed to file the requisite Form 4 reflecting his purchases of

MHR options during December 2004. Defendant's Form 4 reflecting his exercise of

MHR options during January 2005 was filed ten days late and contained materially false

information .

54. By reason of the foregoing, Defendant violated and, unless enjoined, will

continue to violate Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U .S.C. § 78p(a)] and Rules

16a-3(a) [17 C.F.R. § 240.16a-3(a)] and 16a-3(g)(1) [17 C.F.R. § 240.16a-3(g)(1)]

thereunder.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court :

(i) permanently enjoining Defendant from violating Section 10(b) of the

Exchange Act [15 U .S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule lob-5 [17 C .F.R. § 240.1 Ob-5] thereunder;

(ii) permanently enjoining Defendant from violating 16(a) of the Exchang e

Act [15 U.S.C. § 78p(a)] and Rules 16a-3(a) [[17 C.F.R. § 240.16a-3(a)] and 16a-3(g)(1)

[17 C .F.R. § 240.16a-3(g)(1)] thereunder ;

(iii) ordering Defendant to pay civil penalties pursuant to Section 21A of the

Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u-1] for his violations of the federal securities laws as

alleged herein;
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(iv) ordering Defendant to disgorge all ill-gotten gains from the conduct

alleged herein, with prejudgment interest ;

(v) pursuant to Section 21 (d)(2) of the Exchange Act [15 U . S .C. § 78u (d)(2)],

ordering that Defendant be permanently prohibited from acting as an officer or director of

any issuer that has a class of securities registered pursuant to Sections 12(b) or 12(g) of

the Exchange Act [15 U .S .C. §§ 781(b) or 781 (g)] or that is required to file repo rts

pursuant to 15(d) of the Exch ange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78o(d)] ; and

(vi) granting such other relief as this Court may deem just and appropriate .

Dated : February 6, 2007.

Respectfully submitted,

GANDY
Texas Bar No . 07616500
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Burnett Plaza, Suite 1900
801 Cherry Street, Unit #18
Fort Worth, TX 76102-6882
(817) 978-6464
(817) 978-4927 (fax)
gandym@sec.gov
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